IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. SC02-1457

AMOS LEE KING,

Petitioner

versus,

MICHAEL W. MOORE, ETC.

Respondent/Appellee.

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Mark E. Olive Fla. Bar No. 0578533 Law Offices of Mark E. Olive, P.A. 320 West Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 850-224-0004 850-224-3331 (facsimile) Kevin T. Beck
Capital Collateral Counsel
Fla. Bar No. 0802719
Office of the Capital Collateral
Regional Counsel - Middle Region
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 201
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544
813-740-3554 (facsimile)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner's discussion of the course of the proceedings and the relevant facts is contained in the Argument section of this brief.

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner's Death Sentence Must Be Vacated Under Ring v. Arizona

To understand the implications of *Ring v. Arizona*, 2002 WL 1357257 (U.S., June 24, 2002), for petitioner King's death sentence, it is necessary to consider (A) the design of Florida's capital-sentencing procedure, (B) the way in which that procedure operates with respect to the all-important findings of fact that expose a defendant to a death sentence, (C) how the procedure worked in Amos King's case, (D) what *Ring* subsequently held about the constitutional necessity for jury fact-finding with respect to facts that expose a defendant to a death sentence; and (E) the nature of the constitutional rule announced in *Ring*, as bearing on *Ring*'s retroactivity. We take up these subjects in order:

A. The Florida capital-sentencing statute was designed to deny the jury a role in making the findings of fact on which eligibility for a death sentence depends.

Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), was a confusing decision that led many legislatures and courts astray. See Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 599-600 & nn. 7 & 8 (1978) (plurality opinion). The Florida Legislature believed that Furman had been aimed primarily at ending death-sentencing regimes in which "the

inflamed emotions of jurors can . . . sentence a man to die." State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1974). Thus, the statute which it enacted in 1973 "in response to Furman" severely limited the jury's role in the capital sentencing process. The Legislature relied on Florida's trial judges not only to make the ultimate sentencing decision,² but also to make the specific factual findings that brought the "issue of life or death within the framework of rules provided by the statute." *Ibid*. The statutory aggravating circumstances necessary to support a death sentence were required to be found by the trial judge and set forth in writing, see Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3), on the theory that, when "the trial judge justifies his sentence of death in writing, . . . [that will] provide the opportunity for meaningful review by this Court. Discrimination or capriciousness cannot stand where reason is required" Dixon, 283 So.2d at 8.3 As the Court has frequently described the "procedure [to] be used in sentencing phase proceedings":

¹ Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 247 (1976).

² "The Florida procedure does not empower the jury with the final sentencing decision; rather, the trial judge imposes the sentence." *Combs v. State*, 525 So.2d 853, 856 (Fla. 1988). Accord: *e.g.*, *Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688, 691 (1993) ("It is the circuit judge who has the principal responsibility for determining whether a death sentence should be imposed.").

³ *Morton v. State*, 789 So.2d 324, 333 (Fla. 2001): "The sentencing order is the foundation for this Court's proportionality review, which may ultimately determine if a person lives or dies." Accord: *e.g.*, *Patton v. State*, 784 So.2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2000).

"First, the trial judge should hold a hearing to: a) give the defendant, his counsel, and the State, an opportunity to be heard; b) afford, if appropriate, both the State and the defendant an opportunity to present additional evidence; c) allow both sides to comment on or rebut information in any presentence or medical report; and d) afford the defendant an opportunity to be heard in person. Second, after hearing the evidence and argument, the trial judge should then recess the proceeding to consider the appropriate sentence. If the judge determines that the death sentence should be imposed, then, in accordance with section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1983), the judge must set forth in writing the reasons for imposing the death sentence. Third, the trial judge should set a hearing to impose the sentence and contemporaneously file the sentencing order."4

Conversely, the jury's role in capital sentencing was restricted to informing the court of "the judgment of the community as to whether the death penalty is appropriate." *Odom v. State*, 403 So.2d 936, 942 (Fla. 1981). The jury was to do this by "render[ing] an advisory sentence to the court," Fla. Stat. § 921.141(2), which did *not* have to set forth any specific findings of fact, *ibid.*, which was *not*

⁴ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688, 690-691 (1993).

⁵ See also, *e.g.*, *Richardson v. State*, 437 So.2d 1091, 1095 (Fla. 1983); *Quince v. State*, 414 So.2 185, 187 (Fla. 1982); *McCaskill v. State*, 344 So.2 1276, 1280 (Fla. 1977).

⁶ Compare Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3)(b): "In each case in which the court imposes the death sentence, the determination of the court shall be supported by specific written findings of fact based upon the circumstances in subsections (6) and (7) and based upon the records of the trial and the sentencing proceedings." (Emphasis added.) To support a death sentence, specific findings with respect to aggravating and mitigating circumstances are required; it is "insufficient to state

required to be unanimous, Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3), and which the trial judge did *not* have to follow, *ibid*.⁷

This basic statutory framework and its allocation of responsibilities between judge and jury have been uniformly understood and implemented by the Court since *Dixon* first interpreted the statute. "The function of the jury in the sentencing phase . . . is not the same as the function of the jury in the guilt phase." *Johnson v. State*, 393 So.2d 1069, 1074 (Fla. 1981). The jury does not make specific findings of fact, *Cannady v. State*, 427 So.2d 723, 729 (Fla. 1983), because, this Court has held, *Hildwin v. Florida*, 490 U.S. 638 (1989) (per curiam), did not require such findings, *Hunter v. State*, 660 So.2d 244, 252 & n.13 (Fla. 1995), 8 and the jury

generally that the aggravating circumstances that occurred in the course of the trial outweigh the mitigating circumstances that were presented to the jury." *Patterson v. State*, 513 So. 2d 1257, 1263-1264 (Fla. 1987). Accord: *Bouie v. State*, 559 So.2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 1990). Yet *all* that a jury's advisory verdict can be read as doing is to "state generally that the aggravating circumstances." outweigh the mitigating circumstances." This is doubtless why the Court in *Spaziano v. State*, 433 U.S. 508, 512 (Fla. 1983), concluded that "allowing the jury's recommendation to be binding would violate *Furman v. Georgia*."

⁷ Even in the rare case where it is possible to guess that a jury at the penalty stage must have found particular facts to be true or untrue, the judge is authorized to find the contrary. *See*, *e.g.*, *McCrae v. State*, 395 So.2d 1145, 1154-1155 (1980).

That is the precise premise upon which this Court sustained a trial judge's power to override the jury's recommendation of a life sentence as consistent with *Bullington v. Missouri*, 451 U.S. 430 (1981). See, *e.g.*, *Lusk v. State*, 446 So.2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 1984). It is also why the defendant has no right "to have the existence and validity of aggravating circumstances determined as they were placed before his jury." *Engle v. State*, 438 So.2d 803, 813 (Fla. 1983), *explained*

does not bear "the same degree of responsibility as that borne by a 'true sentencing jury," *Pope v. Wainwright*, 496 So. 2d 798, 805 (Fla. 1986). The jury's role is simply – though importantly – to reflect community judgment "as to whether the death sentence is appropriate," *McCampbell v. State*, 421 So.2d 1072, 1975 (Fla. 1982). The "specific findings of fact" that are the "mandatory statutory requirement" for a death sentence are the responsibility of the presiding judge and no one else. *Van Royal v. State*, 497 So.2d 625, 628 (Fla. 1986). See, *e.g.*, *Patterson v. State*, 513 So. 2d 1257, 1261-1263 (Fla. 1987); *Grossman v. State*, 525 So.2d 833, 839-840 (Fla. 1988); *Hernandez v. State*, 621 So.2d 1353, 1357

in Davis v. State, 703 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 1997). As Justice Shaw has noted, a Florida "jury's advisory recommendation is not supported by findings of fact. . . . Florida's statute is unlike those in states where the jury is the sentencer and is required to render special verdicts with specific findings of fact." Combs, 525 So.2d at 859 (concurring opinion). Under Florida practice, "both this Court and the sentencing judge can only speculate as to what factors the jury found in making its recommendation" Ibid. The United States Supreme Court, too, has recognized that "the jury in Florida does not reveal the aggravating circumstances on which it relies," Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992).

⁹ Accord: *Combs*, 525 So.2d at 855-858; *Burns v. State*, 699 So.2d 646, 654 (Fla. 1997), and cases cited.

¹⁰ See, e.g., Cox v. State, 2002 WL 1027308 (Fla. May 23, 2002), pp. *7-*8: "Florida statutory law details the role of a penalty phase jury, which directs the jury panel to determine the proper sentence without precise direction regarding the weighing of aggravating and mitigating factors in the process."

¹¹ Holding on other grounds receded from in *Franqui v. State*, 699 So.2d 1312, 1319-1320 (Fla. 1997).

(Fla. 1993); Layman v. State, 652 So.2d 373, 375-376 (Fla. 1995); Gibson v. State, 661 So.2d 288, 292-293 (Fla. 1995); State v. Riechman, 777 So.2d 342, 351-353 (Fla. 2000).

B. The statute makes eligibility for a death sentence depend upon findings of fact by the trial judge that go beyond any findings reached by the jury in determining guilt.

The actual operation of the Florida capital-sentencing statute must be viewed against the backdrop of the State's general procedures for prosecuting homicide cases, including potentially capital homicide cases. Although this Court is familiar with those general procedures, we summarize them briefly in order to analyze how the statutory death-sentencing process fits into them. The aim of the analysis is to demonstrate that the statutory death-sentencing process, in context, exposes Florida capital defendants "to a penalty *exceeding* the maximum . . . [they] would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury verdict alone." *Ring v. Arizona*, 2002 WL 1357257 (U.S., June 24, 2002) at *8, quoting *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U. S. 466, 483 (2000).

All capital crimes in this State must be charged by presentment or indictment of a grand jury. Fla. Const. Art. I, § 15(a) (1980). However, indictments may be open-ended with respect to the prosecution's theory of liability, or may plead alternative theories. For example, an indictment needs not specify in separate counts that a person charged with first-degree murder acted with a premeditated

design and that s/he caused the victim's death in the course of an enumerated felony if the prosecution wishes to submit these two factually diverse theories to the jury as alternative bases for a first-degree murder conviction under Fla. Stat. § 782.04 (1979). Some charging instruments do list multiple theories of first-degree murder liability, others list only one. In no event does the instrument have to state the aggravating circumstance or circumstances on which the State will later rely to establish that the defendant is eligible for the death penalty if convicted of first-degree murder. *State v. Sireci*, 399 So.2d 964, 970 (Fla. 1981).

Under standard Florida practice, the jury instructions at a trial upon an indictment charging first-degree murder will allow a conviction on any theory of first-degree liability that has sufficient evidentiary support to sustain a verdict.

Verdict forms may or may not specify the theory of liability that the jury found proved beyond a reasonable doubt. It is not common to require juries to return special verdicts making specific findings of fact.

Early in the history of the State's post-1972 death penalty law, this Court explained what constitutes a capital crime, and where the definition comes from:

"The aggravating circumstances of Fla. Stat. § 921.141(6), F.S.A., actually define those crimes – when read in conjunction with Fla. Stat. § § 782.04(1) and 794.01(1), F.S.A.— to which the death penalty is applicable in the absence of mitigating circumstances."

Dixon, 283 So.2d at 9. Accord: Alford v. State, 307 So.2d 433, 444 (Fla. 1975).

Section 782.04, Florida Statutes, defines first degree murder as

"(1)(a) The unlawful killing of a human being:

- "1. When perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed or any human being;
- "2. When committed by a person engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate, any . . . [of several enumerated felonies]."

The same section provides that "murder in the first degree . . . constitutes a capital felony, punishable as provided in § 775.082." Fla. Stat. § 782.04(1) (1979).

The sentence for first-degree murder is specified in section 775.082, Florida Statutes:

"A person who has been convicted of a capital felony *shall* be punished by life imprisonment and shall be required to serve no less than 25 years before becoming eligible for parole *unless* the proceedings held to determine sentence according to the procedure set forth in § 921.141 result in *a finding by the court* that such person shall be punished by death, and in the latter event such person shall be punished by death."

Fla. Stat. § 775.082 (1979) (emphasis added).

Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, describes the procedure to be followed by the court in making the findings which are the necessary precondition for a death sentence and in determining that a death sentence will actually be imposed. See *Dixon*, 283 So.2d at 7 ("[a]fter his adjudication, this defendant is provided with

five steps between conviction and imposition of the death penalty"). Section 921.141 is titled "Sentence of death or life imprisonment for capital felonies; further proceedings to determine sentence" and provides the following:

"Upon conviction or adjudication of guilt of a defendant of a capital felony, the court shall conduct a separate sentencing proceeding to determine whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment as authorized by § 775.082."

In the penalty-phase proceeding, the jury may or may not hear additional evidence beyond what was adduced prior to the verdict of guilty. *See Dixon*, 283 So.2d at 7; Fla. Stat. § 921.141(1) (1979). Each side is permitted to make a closing argument to the jury. Fla.R.Crim.Pro. 3.780. The jury is then instructed to consider all the evidence and reach an advisory recommendation regarding the appropriate sentence. The recommendation is to be based on whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist to justify imposition of the death penalty and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh these aggravating circumstances. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(2) (1979). Aggravators may be considered if proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and mitigators if supported by a preponderance of the evidence.

The aggravating circumstances enumerated by Fla. Stat. § 921.141(5), F.S.A. are:

"(a) The capital felony was committed by a person under

sentence of imprisonment;

- "(b) The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person;
- "(c) The defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons;
- "(d) The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged or was an accomplice in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit any robbery, rape, arson, burglary, kidnaping, aircraft piracy, or the unlawful throwing, placing or discharging of a destructive-device or bomb;
- "(e) The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody;
- "(f) The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain;
- "(g) The capital felony was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws;
- "(h) The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel."

The jury's advisory recommendation does not specify what, if any, aggravating circumstances the jurors found to have been proved. Neither the consideration of an aggravating circumstance nor the return of the jury's advisory recommendation requires a unanimous vote of the jurors.

"The trial judge . . . is not bound by the jury's recommendation, and is given

final authority to determine the appropriate sentence." *Engle v. State*, 438 So.2d 803, 813 (Fla. 1983), *explained in Davis v. State*, 703 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 1997). After the jury has made its advisory recommendation, it is discharged. A separate sentencing hearing is then conducted before the court alone. In some cases tried around the time of petitioner's case, and in all cases after 1993, this judge-only sentencing hearing involves the presentation of additional evidence and/or argument to support the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. *See generally Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

Section 921.141(3), Florida Statutes, provides that

"Notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death . . .

"If the court does not make the finding requiring the death sentence, the court shall impose sentence of life imprisonment in accordance with § 775.082."

The judge is required to issue written findings in support of his or her decision to impose a death sentence. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3); *Grossman v. State*, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988). ¹² This means that the judge must make specific factual findings with respect to the existence *vel non* of the facts constituting the statutory aggravating circumstances that are a necessary precondition for the imposition of a

¹² Holding on other grounds receded from in *Franqui v. State*, 699 So.2d 1312, 1319-1320 (Fla. 1997).

sentence of death. Not being bound by the jury's sentencing recommendation, the judge may consider and rely upon evidence not submitted to the jury (provided the defendant receives adequate prior notice of the evidence). *Porter v. State*, 400 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1981). The judge is also permitted to consider and rely upon aggravating circumstances that were not submitted to the jury. *Davis v. State*, 703 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1997), citing *Hoffman v. State*, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1985) (court's finding of the "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravating circumstance was proper even though the jury was not instructed on it); *Fitzpatrick v. State*, 437 So.2d 1072, 1078 (Fla. 1983) (finding of previous conviction of a violent felony was proper even though the jury was not instructed on it); *Engle*, 438 So.2d at 813.

Because the jury's role is merely advisory, this Court's review of a death sentence is based and dependent upon the judge's written findings. *E.g.*, *Morton v. State*, 789 So.2 324, 333 (Fla. 2001); *Grossman*, 525 So.2d at 839; *Dixon*, 283 So.2d at 8. The Court has repeatedly emphasized that the trial judge's findings must be made independently of the jury's recommendation. *See Grossman*, 525 So.2d at 840 (collecting cases).

C. Petitioner's eligibility for a death sentence was in fact established solely through findings of fact made by the trial judge that went beyond any findings reached by the jury in determining guilt.

Now, here are the proceedings through which Amos King was determined to be eligible for a death sentence and condemned to die:

On April 7, 1977, the grand jury for Pinellas County, Florida returned an indictment charging that:

Amos Lee King, Jr. of the County of Pinellas and State of Florida, on the 18th day of March in the year of our Lord, one thousand nine hundred seventy-seven in the County and State aforesaid unlawfully, while engaged in the perpetration of, or in an attempt to perpetrate the crime of involuntary sexual battery, did beat and stab Natalie A. Brady, a human being, with a knife, thereby inflicting upon the said Natalie A. Brady mortal wounds of which said mortal wounds, and by the means aforesaid and as a direct result thereof, the said Natalie A. Brady died; contrary to Chapter 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Florida.

The indictment did not indicate whether the State would seek the death penalty, or upon what factual basis. The Petitioner was also indicted for involuntary sexual battery; arson in the first degree; and burglary.

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