AMOS LEE KING,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-1457

MICHAEL W. MOORE,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843

STEPHEN D. AKE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087

2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 Phone: (813) 801-0600 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should not reach the merits of King's claim, as his substantive argument is not properly before this Court. His successive challenge to the facial validity of the death penalty statute is procedurally barred, and longstanding principles of appellate review mandate that this Court reject King's plea for relief. Furthermore, <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002) is not retroactive; criminal procedural changes are to be applied prospectively only. Accordingly, even if this Court should conclude that <u>Ring</u> demands changes in our sentencing procedures, there is no basis to apply those changes on collateral review.

Notwithstanding the procedural bar, there is no reasonable basis to conclude that Florida's capital sentencing statute is constitutionally infirm as inconsistent with the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. King's reliance on <u>Ring</u> offers no basis for a contrary result on this issue. The extension of <u>Apprendi</u> in <u>Ring</u> is based solely on Arizona law. Florida law does not suffer the same infirmities and affords King no basis for relief. Unlike Arizona, in Florida the statutory maximum sentence for first degree murder is death and Florida juries make all constitutionally required factual findings for the determination of death eligibility.

Moreover, Florida's statute passes Sixth and Eighth Amendment

constitutional muster because it also includes jury participation in the sentencing process, and the jury's role is in no way compromised by the fact that a judge has made additional findings which not only authorize a death sentence but determine the sentence to be proper on the facts presented, or by the requirement of additional written findings from the judge.

King is asking this Court to invalidate Florida's capital sentencing statute because the jury does not make the ultimate sentencing determination, yet no authority for doing so exists. Florida's statutory scheme has been repeatedly upheld by the United States Supreme Court and this Court has no authority to overrule, on federal constitutional grounds, the many cases upholding the validity of the Florida statute. As no relief is warranted, the petition should be denied and the Stay of Execution should be lifted.

#### ARGUMENT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Court's stay of King's execution was put in place after the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, and lifted the stay of execution it had previously imposed. However, in light of <u>Cannon v. Mullin</u>, 2002 WL 1587921 (10th Cir. July 19, 2002) (copy attached), <u>cert. and stay of</u> <u>execution denied</u>, 2002 WL 1633127 (U.S. July 23, 2002), the stay should be lifted because it is now clear that <u>Ring</u> has no retroactive application. And, because Florida and Arizona have radically different capital sentencing schemes, as is discussed at length herein, Florida's death penalty statute is unencumbered by <u>Ring</u>. King's petition should be denied.

# KING'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS SHOULD BE DENIED.

Petitioner King is before this Court seeking a determination that Florida's capital sentencing statute is facially unconstitutional. His argument relies primarily on the Sixth Amendment principle in <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000), holding that "[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to the jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." King's argument is that,

because our sentencing statute requires independent factual findings by a trial judge beyond the facts found by the jury's verdict, the statute is facially invalid. While relief was denied on this very basis earlier this year, King now resurrects the same claim under the guise <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, <u>supra</u>, clarifies the <u>Apprendi</u> application by urging <u>Ring</u> has changed the Florida death penalty dynamic. King is wrong.

King's brief fails to properly describe or address the jury's actual role in Florida; his argument focuses exclusively on the fact that the trial judge is required, by statute, to make additional findings <u>beyond</u> the jury's actions. However, it is the actions of the jury itself, rather than additional procedures for reliability which have been implemented to comply with Eighth Amendment principles, which are at issue in <u>Ring</u>. Additional Eighth Amendment procedures above and beyond the jury's fulfillment of its death-qualifying role do not interfere with the Sixth Amendment rights discussed in <u>Ring</u> and <u>Apprendi</u>.

As will be seen, King is not entitled to any relief. King's concern with a lack of jury findings is not implicated in this case. King's sentence is premised on a prior violent felony conviction; in addition, his jury specifically and unanimously found necessary facts to permit the imposition of the death penalty. King was convicted of sexual battery, arson, and

burglary, as well as escape, which necessarily included a finding that King was under a sentence of imprisonment. Therefore, multiple aggravating factors were properly found by the jury <u>and</u> trial judge, and King has no credible Sixth Amendment argument before this Court.<sup>1</sup> His petition must be denied.

# I. <u>King's claim based upon Ring v. Arizona is procedurally</u> <u>barred, because King did not present this issue in a timely manner</u> <u>and because this Court has previously denied relief on King's</u> <u>Apprendi claim.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As of July 30, 2002, there are 371 inmates on Florida's death row based on the Department of Corrections' website. Of the 371 inmates, approximately 53 are on direct appeal. A review of the transcripts of those cases on direct appeal and the latest opinions affirming the judgment and sentence reveals that of the 371 inmates, 271 have as an aggravating factor a prior violent felony. The scope of what a prior violent felony encompasses has had a torturous evolution in a series of cases, such as Meeks v. State, 339 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1976) (contemporaneous convictions do not qualify as an aggravating circumstance under Sec. 921.141(5)); to Amos Lee King v. State, 390 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1980) (citing Elledge v. State, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1977), that the legislative intent is clear that any violent crime for which there is a conviction at the time of sentencing should be considered as an aggravating factor); to <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 1984) (recognizing that prior violent felony could include contemporaneous felony to victim); to <u>Wasko v. State</u>, 505 So. 2d 1314 (Fla. 1987) (change in law where contemporaneous felony on murder victim not prior felony aggravator); to Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 868 (Fla. 1987) (contemporaneous prior convictions involving another victim may be used as aggravation).

In spite of the fact that the prior violent felony aggravator was not applied consistently until **1987**, approximately **75%** of the current cases fall outside of <u>Apprendi/Ring</u>, because of "just" the prior violent felony aggravator. Add to the prior violent felony, under sentence of imprisonment and the number increases to 276; add to that an underlying felony conviction and the number goes to 289; add to that felony murders and the number tops **348**, or **90.33%** of the cases meet the exception to Apprendi/Ring.

Preliminarily, this Court must consider whether King's claim can be addressed on the merits. His challenge to the statute should have been presented to the trial court and on direct appeal, and is procedurally barred at this time. <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d 755 (Fla. 1984). This Court has repeatedly recognized that habeas petitions are not to be used as successive appeals, and that issues which could and should have been presented earlier will not be considered. <u>Rutherford v. Moore</u>, 774 So. 2d 637, 643 (Fla. 2000); White v. Dugger, 511 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1987). Although Apprendi and Ring were not decided until after King's appeals, the basic argument that the Sixth Amendment required jury sentencing in capital cases was available and, in fact, routinely advanced around the time of King's trial and resentencing. See <u>Hildwin v. Florida</u>, 490 U.S. 638 (1989); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 472 (1984); Chandler v. State, 442 So. 2d 171, 173, n. 1 (Fla. 1983). King's failure to present this claim at the proper time procedurally bars this Court from consideration of this issue in his petition.

In addition, his <u>Apprendi</u> claim was rejected by this Court in the warrant proceedings litigated in January, 2002. <u>King v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 1237 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 122 S. Ct. 932 (2002). His current habeas cannot be used as a vehicle for reconsideration of that decision. <u>Teffeteller v. Dugger</u>, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1025 (Fla. 1999) (holding that habeas petition claims were procedurally barred

because the claims were raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court or could have been raised on direct appeal); <u>Medina v.</u> <u>State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990) (stating that it is inappropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue).

There is nothing magical about an <u>Apprendi</u> claim, and there is no justification for a departure by this Court from the routine application of the well-settled state procedural bar rules. The <u>Apprendi</u> claim is procedurally barred under settled Florida law, and this Court should enforce that procedural bar in this case. Failure to apply the procedural bar will result in continuing uncertainty in the law, and, moreover, may well have unpredictable influences on cases which are currently pending.<sup>2</sup> That sort of destabilization in the law is unnecessarily burdensome, and will undoubtedly create unnecessary delay. Neither the legal issue presented, nor the facts of this particular case, provide justification for any exception to established Florida procedural law.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>While all potential ramifications cannot be predicted, unnecessary delay is inevitable. For example, pending federal habeas corpus cases have been "administratively closed" by the Middle District of Florida pending this Court's resolution of this issue. <u>Rose v.</u> <u>Moore</u>, 8:93-1169-Civ-T-23EAJ; <u>Puiatti v. Moore</u>, 8:92-CV-539-T-17EAJ; <u>Brown v. Moore</u>, 8:01-CV-2374-T-23TGW; <u>Grossman v. Moore</u>, 8:98-CV-1929-T-17MSS; <u>Byrd v. Moore</u>, 8:96-CV-771-T-23TGW.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Notably, a person to whom a statute may be constitutionally applied may not typically challenge the statute on the ground that it may conceivably be applied unconstitutionally to others. <u>See</u> <u>New York v. Ferber</u>, 458 U.S. 747, 768 (1982); <u>Grant v. State</u>, 745

For these reasons, this Court should decline to address the merits of King's statutory challenge in this proceeding.

## II. <u>The Supreme Court's 2002 decision in Ring v. Arizona is</u> <u>not retroactively applicable to King's 1985 death sentence.</u>

Another preliminary consideration involves whether this Court may apply <u>Ring</u> retroactively. It is clear that <u>Ring</u> is "simply an extension of <u>Apprendi</u> to the death penalty context." <u>Cannon v.</u> <u>Mullin</u>, 2002 WL 1587921, at \*4.<sup>4</sup> Since <u>Apprendi</u> involves the

So. 2d 519, 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), <u>quashed in part on other</u> <u>grounds</u>, 770 So. 2d 655 (Fla. 2000). Although this proposition is traditionally cited to preclude facial challenges on grounds of vagueness, the underlying principles -- recognition of the personal nature of constitutional rights, and prudential limitations on constitutional adjudications -- apply equally in the instant case. <u>See Ferber</u>, 458 U.S. at 768. Thus, King's argument that the statute may be unconstitutionally applied in other scenarios not presently before the Court does not provide a basis for review of this issue.

This Court has acknowledged its obligation to construe enactments, where necessary, to provide judicial limitations in order to constitutionally uphold the statute. <u>State v. Globe Communications</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 648 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 1994); <u>Sandlin v. Criminal Justice</u> <u>Standards and Training Com.</u>, 531 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 1988); <u>Miami</u> <u>Dolphins, Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 394 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 1981). Since no such limitations are necessary in the instant case, where no Sixth Amendment violation has been credibly pled, the resolution of the issue is best left for consideration in a case where Sixth Amendment concerns are reasonably implicated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The <u>Cannon</u> court held, post-<u>Ring</u>, that under <u>Tyler v. Cain</u>, 533 U.S. 656, 661 (2001), "'the Supreme Court is the only entity that can 'ma[k]e' a new rule retroactive. The new rule becomes retroactive, not by the decisions of the lower courts or by the combined action of the Supreme Court and the lower courts, but simply by the action of the Supreme Court.'"

construction of a federal constitutional right, any question of possible retroactive application is governed by the federal principles. <u>See Teague v. Lane</u>, 489 U.S. 288 (1989).

The United States Supreme Court has directed that it is the only entity that can "make" a new constitutional rule retroactive, by expressly holding to that effect at the time the rule is announced. <u>Tyler v. Cain</u>, 533 U.S. 656, 663 (2001). The Court did not express any intention for <u>Apprendi</u> to be applied retroactively; to the contrary, the Court has indicated just the opposite.<sup>5</sup> Further, every court to address the issue has rejected the claim that <u>Apprendi</u> is retroactive. <u>See United States v. Sanders</u>, 247 F.3d 139, 150, 151 (4th Cir. 2002) (<u>Apprendi</u> is not retroactive under <u>Teague v. Lane</u>, 489 U.S. 288 (1989); <u>Curtis v. United States</u>, 294 F.3d 841 (7th Cir. 2002) (holding <u>Apprendi</u> is not retroactive because it is not a substantive change in the law; rather, it "is about nothing but procedure"); <u>United States v. Moss</u>, 252 F.3d 993 (8th Cir. 2001); <u>Jones v. Smith</u>, 231 F.3d 1227 (9th Cir. 2001);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>On the same day that <u>Ring</u> was released, Justice Thomas filed a dissenting opinion in a different case that was joined by Justices Stevens, Souter, and Ginsburg, in which he stated that "[n]o Court of Appeals, let alone this Court, has held that <u>Apprendi</u> has retroactive effect." <u>Harris v. United States</u>, 122 S. Ct. 2406, 2427 (U.S. June 24, 2002). In her dissent in <u>Ring</u> itself, moreover, Justice O'Connor, joined by the Chief Justice, stated that <u>Ring</u> is not retroactive. 122 S. Ct. at 2449. Because <u>Ring</u> is premised upon <u>Apprendi</u>, clearly six Justices on the United States Supreme Court have indicated their opinion that <u>Ring</u> is not retroactive.

<u>United States v. Sanchez-Cervantes</u>, 282 F.3d 664, 668 (9th Cir. 2002); <u>McCoy v. United States</u>, 266 F.3d 1245 (11th Cir. 2001); <u>Whisler v. State</u>, 36 P.3d 290 (Kan. 2001) (State Supreme Court determined <u>Apprendi</u> is not retroactive); <u>Poole v. State</u>, 2001 WL 996300 (Ala. Aug. 31, 2001) (same).

The United States Supreme Court has held that a violation of the right to a jury trial is not retroactive. <u>DeStefano v. Woods</u>, 392 U.S. 631 (1968) (refusing to apply the right to a jury trial retroactively because there were no serious doubts about the fairness or the reliability of the factfinding process being done by the judge rather than the jury). If the very right to a jury trial is not retroactively applicable, it stands reason on its head to suggest that a wholly procedural ruling like <u>Ring</u> should be retroactive.

The United States Supreme Court has also held that an <u>Apprendi</u> claim is not plain error. <u>United States v. Cotton</u>, 122 S. Ct. 1781 (May 20, 2002) (holding an indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an <u>Apprendi</u> error but it did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). If an error is not plain error cognizable on direct appeal, it is not of sufficient magnitude to be a candidate for retroactive application in collateral proceedings. <u>United States v. Sanders</u>, 247 F.3d 139,

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